THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Gene McCaskill, Commissioner  
Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr., Commissioner  
R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner

W.C.C. FILE NO.: 1215681

APPELLATE CASE NO.: 2018-000359

---

Vickie Rummage, Employee, .....Appellant,

vs.

BGF Industries, Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Co., Carrier,  
.....Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Andrew N. Safran, Esquire  
Post Office Box 12089  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
803-256-6689

Attorney for Appellant

December 17, 2018  
Columbia, South Carolina

RECEIVED  
DEC 17 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1) Did the Appellate Panel/Commission err in failing to find Ms. Rummage had adequately proven the consequences of her admittedly compensable May 18, 2012 physical injuries had aggravated a preexisting psychological condition when: (a) the Legislature has determined establishment of a compensable aggravation must be founded upon “medical evidence”; (b) she satisfied this burden of proof through introduction of multiple expert opinions “stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty” as prescribed by the provisions of S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-9-35 (2015); (c) Respondents, who were similarly obliged to meet this standard of proof, did not controvert these corroborative medical opinions through either “expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty”; (d) the record is consequently devoid of any competent evidence rebutting the multiple medical expert opinions validating the aggravation of her preexisting psychological condition; and (e) the only reasonable inference which may be gleaned from the evidence contained in the hearing record verifies her entitlement to treatment of this aggravated psychological condition?

2) Did the Appellate Panel/Commission err in actually denying the compensability of Ms. Rummage’s aggravated psychological condition when this adjudication process: (a) was the product of non-medical factors (i.e. personal/lay observations of the single commissioner), as opposed to the legally mandated process requiring resolution of this medically complex issue through the use of “expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty” in compliance with S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-9-35 (2015); (b) is clearly premised upon an impermissible medical opinion generated by the single commissioner, rather than the competent medical evidence required by Section 42-9-35; (c) arbitrarily/capriciously

circumvents the explicit provisions of Section 42-9-35; and (d) constitutes an unlawful procedure per S.C. Code Ann. Section 1-23-380 (A)(5)(Supp. 2017)?

3) Did the Appellate Panel/Commission err in admitting an Order stemming from a prior unrelated workers' compensation proceeding into evidence for the purpose of impeachment when the Supreme Court has ruled the use of extrinsic evidence to challenge an individual's credibility constitutes reversible error?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the February 1, 2018 Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission's Appellate Panel, which concluded Appellant, Vicky Rummage: (a) had "failed to prove an aggravation of her pre-existing psychological condition" in the fashion prescribed by S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-9-35 (2015); and (b) was not entitled to receive "medical treatment and compensation benefits due to an alleged aggravation of her pre-existing psychological condition . . . ."

On May 18, 2012, Ms. Rummage sustained compensable injuries when she fell backwards, striking her head against a doffing machine with sufficient force to produce a laceration that was closed (through use of glue) on site. Although she continued to work following this trauma, Ms. Rummage developed symptoms involving her head, neck and upper back that prompted a May 30, 2012 referral to the company physician (Dr. John F. McLeod, III) who "suspected some element of concussion." (See, Record on Appeal, p. 394). This physician similarly noted the presence of continued " . . . [t]enderness over the posterior scalp with mild edema over the si[t]e . . . of previous laceration" in conjunction with continued headaches, which he again characterized as the "suspected" residual "concussion", during a June 6, 2012 follow-up visit. (Id.).

During the ensuing weeks, Dr. Fred D. McQueen, Jr. (**her long time primary care physician**): (a) prescribed Fioricet for "severe headaches since the fall"; while (b) endorsing obtaining a neurological assessment, which was subsequently performed per Respondents' authorization on September 5, 2012. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 371).

After examining her on that date, Dr. Jeff Benjamin, an authorized neurologist affiliated with Grand Strand Specialty Associates, advised examination revealed "typical symptoms of

closed-head injury.” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 385). In fact, this physician’s final (November 14, 2012) note confirmed his belief her constellation of symptoms were reflective of **“Traumatic Brain Injury”**. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 391).

Ms. Rummage was then directed by Respondents to Dr. Daniel L. Collins, a psychiatrist, who likewise identified post-concussive symptoms, for which he recommended speech therapy. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 246). During the early stages of his treatment, Dr. Collins was also informed of depressive symptoms, **as well as the fact Ms. Rummage had used psychotropic medication “in the past” for pre-accident depression**. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 249).

In this connection, it is **undisputed** Ms. Rummage had a long history of depression/anxiety, for which she: (a) was prescribed several psychotropic medications by Dr. McQueen over an extended period of time; but (b) never received either psychological/psychiatric assessment or treatment. Ms. Rummage likewise **did not contest** the fact she did not recall all details of her medication use while under Dr. McQueen’s care during her December 9, 2013 deposition. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 437).

Given the relevance of Ms. Rummage’s pre-injury medical history, including the use of psychotropic medication, to identifying the source of documented post-injury depression, Dr. McQueen, the medical expert who was most familiar with both her pre and post-injury conditions, was requested to address this issue. Significantly, pursuant to questionnaire responses dated March 13, 2014, this physician, **who had served as her physician for approximately 14 years prior to the May 18, 2012 accident**, confirmed; (a) “Ms. Rummage’s current headaches are most probably the product of a post-concussive syndrome, as opposed to the tension headaches for which . . . [he] provided treatment prior to the May 18, 2012 trauma”; (b) “the nature/intensity of Ms. Rummage’s psychological disturbance **have also increased** in a

manner consistent with post-concussive syndrome”; (c) **“each of these components has been materially aggravated by the consequences of Ms. Rummage’s May 18, 2012 work related fall”**; and (d) the **treatment modalities** he had provided for the “depression and headaches **prior** to her May 18, 2012 work related fall . . . allow[ed] Ms. Rummage to remain employed. . . .” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 380 - 382).

As Dr. Collins had recommended not only psychological evaluation, but also neuropsychological testing, for which no authorization was tendered, the undersigned ultimately (May 15, 2014) directed Ms. Rummage to Dr. Tora L. Brawley, a neuropsychologist, who: (a) noted the presence of psychological stressors that included not only the consequences of her compensable accident, but also family issues (e.g., “her son attempting suicide this past November”); (b) indicated Ms. Rummage **acknowledged having “a prior history of depression”**; (c) found she exhibited “severely impaired speed and accuracy . . . of attention and concentration”; (d) administered the “Test of Memory Malingering”, which “did not indicate malingering of cognitive symptoms”; (e) nonetheless believed “her psychiatric symptoms were significantly interfering with cognition and therefore invalidating the test results”, to the extent neuropsychological testing was discontinued; (f) recommended psychiatric evaluation in conjunction with counseling for these symptoms; and (g) concluded that “. . . [w]hile Ms. Rummage does have a **previous history of depression**, it is clear that her symptoms worsened significantly following the accident and should be aggressively treated . . . [at] this time . . . [, while reiterating] . . . [f]ormal assessment of effort did not reveal attempts to malingering.” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 341 - 342).

During the course of her November 10, 2015 deposition, Dr. Brawley, a seasoned neuropsychologist who had served on the University of South Carolina School of Medicine’s

faculty for many year, verified: (a) “Mr. Safran . . . told me he wanted me to . . . see if she was legit . . . to make sure that . . . [Ms. Rummage] was legitimate with her complaints” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 233, 235 and 237); (b) her review of “a lot of . . . medical records” indicating Ms. Rummage’s **use of antidepressants for “quite a while”** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 234 and 237); (c) her awareness Ms. Rummage had encountered “lots of stressors . . . throughout her life” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 234); (d) the Test of Memory Malingered was administered “to look and see if she was giving the effort because it was clear she just wasn’t - - her cognition was significantly slowed at that time and she was severely impaired on those couple of short tests that I gave her at the beginning” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 235); (e) **Ms. Rummage “passed the test of Memory Malingered . . . [,] a formal assessment that looks at effort”** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 235 - 236); and (f) “. . . [h]ad Ms. Rummage not passed the malingering test, . . . [she] would . . . have said so” (actually recalling a prior incidence where one of Mr. Safran’s clients “didn’t pass the malingering test” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 237 and 242).

Ms. Rummage was next referred by Respondents to Dr. Thomas Gualtieri, a psychiatrist, who opined her symptoms were not related to the May 18, 2012 trauma and indicative of malingering. As the undersigned had serious doubts as to this physician’s objectivity, to the extent he had initially contested the referral, he felt an independent psychiatric evaluation was warranted.

Consequently, on April 27, 2015 Ms. Rummage underwent forensic psychiatric evaluation by Dr. Amanda B. Salas, who: (a) **reviewed extensive records** from several facilities, **including McQueen Medical Center** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 326); (b) recognized her **prior history of depression**, noting these “. . . [m]edical records document history of treatment with” **Prozac, Lexapro, Wellbutrin XL, Cymbalta, Elavil, Serzone, Desryl and Ambien**

(See, Record on Appeal, p. 328); (c) further referenced her prior use of anti-anxiety medications (Ativan and Xanax) (Id.); (d) identified the presence of various depressive symptoms, as well as clinical evidence of this condition (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 328 - 330); (e) confirmed “to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, . . . Ms. Rummage meets the diagnostic criteria for major depressive disorder” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 332); (f) indicated “. . . [a]lthough she has a history of depressive mood symptoms, her past documented and reported depressive episodes have not risen to the level of severity she is currently experiencing” (Id.); (g) the current Major Depressive Disorder “is most likely related to her work injury” (Id.); (h) “Ms. Rummage is not at maximum medical improvement in regards to her mood symptoms and memory impairment” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 333); and (i) treatment of this aggravated depressive condition was required. (Id.)

Inspection of Dr. Salas’ report also identified various flaws in Dr. Gualtieri’s methodology and conclusions, to wit: (a) reference in the report to an evaluation date (December 11, 2014), which was four months prior to her actual visit in April, 2015 (Id.); (b) test selection bias, noting his use of “the Pediatric Neurocognitive Test, a test designed for a pediatric population,” rather than adults (See, Record on Appeal, p. 331); (c) his administration of/reliance upon “the Neuropsych Questionnaire (NPQ) . . . [,] an internet-based computerized symptom checklist developed by Dr. Gualtieri himself . . . [which b]y his own publication, . . . ‘was not developed as a diagnostic test’” (Id.); (d) conflicting descriptions of Ms. Rummage” (noted his report states “she appeared his/her stated age”; characterizing her as “pleasant, well related, cooperative and compliant”, while concluding, without explanation, she exhibited a “non-credible clinical presentation, with dramatic inconsistency”) (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 330 and 467); (e) failure “to acknowledge or offer explanation as to why he

dismissed” psychomotor retardation, which “is typical of severe depression . . . from being a valid part of his assessment and interpretation” (See, Record on Appeal, p. 332); and (f) “his report stands out in **such a divergent perspective** in comparison to the other available records, that it leaves me perplexed as to how one is to find any validity in his offered opinion”, which conflicts with the assessments of multiple medical providers (Drs. McQueen, Benjamin and Collins) (Id.).

Dr. Brawley **similarly questioned the propriety/reliability of Dr. Gualtieri’s testing process and conclusions**, explaining: (a) “. . . [i]t is unclear who administered and interpreted these tests. . . This should be done only by a qualified psychologist, or by a trained psychometrician under the supervision of a qualified psychologist” (recalling this physician’s report simply bore his signature, while noting the participation of a physician’s assistant); (b) “review of the raw data . . . [raises] concerns about the accuracy of scoring and interpretation, (identifying, as an example, that the scoring and interpretation in connection with a test involving Ms. Rummage’s copying of “complex figure **were both incorrect**”; “simply because someone cannot recall any details on a delayed recall does not render the test ‘invalid’”; use of the “pediatric neurocognitive test” on a 55 year old is “curious”; (c) the inconsistency of his **ignoring the fact Ms. Rummage’s clinical presentation was consistent with Major Depressive Disorder, “the number one diagnostic consideration listed in the interpretive report . . . [o]n the Personality Assessment Inventory administered by his office”**; and (d) the arbitrariness of his acknowledging the “sedating” effects of Ms. Rummage’s medications, yet ignoring their impact on her clinical presentation. (See, Record on Appeal, p. 343 - 345).

Significantly, after being provided with copies of the various reports generated by Drs. Gualtieri, Salas and Brawley, Dr. Collins, who evaluated Ms. Rummage on numerous occasions

over a two year period, concluded: (a) Ms. Rummage had “**never exhibited any evidence of malingering, symptom magnification or secondary gain**”; (b) she “has consistently exhibited clinical evidence of depression and anxiety throughout [his] . . . period of treatment”; (c) “Drs. Salas’ and Brawley’s observations/opinions/conclusions as to the legitimacy of Ms. Rummage’s presentation, the source of her psychological/psychiatric symptoms and current treatment needs are consistent with . . . [his] own”; (d) “**Ms. Rummage’s current psychological/psychiatric symptoms most probably result from the aggravation of her preexisting depression/anxiety by the consequences of her May 18, 2012 compensable accident**”; (e) she “requires treatment of the nature identified by Drs. Salas and Brawley”; (f) Ms. Rummage has not reached the point of maximum medical improvement “relative to her psychological/psychiatric injury components”; (g) “Drs. Salas’ and Brawley’s opinions as to Ms. Rummage’s rather serious need for psychological/psychiatric care are consistent with [his] . . . repeated recommendations for authorization of this treatment”; and (h) her receipt of this psychological/psychiatric treatment is reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening the ultimate period of disability produced by the consequences of her May 18, 2012 compensable accident, including the causally relates psychological/psychiatric injury component identified by these evaluators. . . .” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 321 - 325).

Ms. Rummage was also evaluated on two occasions by Dr. Donna Schwartz-Watts (Maddox), a forensic psychiatrist, who: (a) **unquestionably reviewed medical records dating back to 1991, clearly noting her receipt of “extensive treatment with Dr. McQueen pre-injury”** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 346 - 347); (b) **certainly referenced the fact psychotropic medication was being provided by Dr. McQueen prior to the May 18, 2012 head injury** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 347); (c) identified various symptoms that were consistent with

depression, as well as the fact she was engaging in strategies to assist her cognitive function” (identifying “Luminous, crosswords and . . . Candy Crush”) (See, Record on Appeal, p. 348) ; (d) **“found no evidence that Ms. Rummage was exaggerating or feigning symptoms”** (Id.); (e) **concluded, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Ms. Rummage “had a pre-existing history of depression which was worsened by her work-related injury”** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 349); and (f) recommended psychiatric treatment (including medication management) in conjunction with psychotherapy for the “Major Depression” resulting from the aggravating effects of her May 18, 2012 compensable accident. (Id.).

After reevaluating Ms. Rummage in the fall of 2016, Drs. Salas and Schwartz-Watts (Maddox) conferred/reiterated, **to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, Ms. Rummage had not “exhibited any evidence of malingering, symptom magnification or secondary gain during [their] . . . evaluations”** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 338 and 354); (b) “ continues to exhibit symptoms reflective of Major Depression and cognitive impairment” (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 339 and 355); (c) is experiencing **“major depression and cognitive impairment . . . [that] most probably result from the consequences (direct cause and/or aggravation) of her May 18, 2012 compensable accident”** (Id.); and (d) “requires treatment of nature identified in [their] respective reports . . . .” (Id.).

These forensic psychiatrists likewise agreed: (a) Ms. Rummage’s receipt of psychological/psychiatric treatment modalities of the nature they had recommended **“is reasonable, medically necessary and geared toward lessening the ultimate period of disability produced the consequences of her May 18, 2012 compensable accident”** (b) their respective opinions were also consistent with Dr. Brawley’s observations/opinions/conclusions as **the legitimacy of Ms. Rummage’s presentation, the source of her**

**psychological/psychiatric symptoms and cognitive impairments**, as well as her current treatment needs; and (c) the nature/degree of Ms. Rummage's causally related Major Depression and cognitive impairment most probably prohibits her from currently engaging in/sustaining any form of work activities. (Id.).

During the course of a November 7, 2016 hearing before the single commissioner, Ms. Rummage: (a) **did not "deny . . . [having] struggled with depression" prior to May 18, 2012** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 164); (b) **acknowledged not only receipt of medication for this condition through Dr. McQueen, but also the fact she continued to utilize these medications leading up to her May 18, 2012 accident** (See, Record on Appeal, p. 165); (c) also identified headaches as a pre-accident symptom (See, Record on Appeal, p. 169); (d) recalled the presence of nausea associated with her pre-injury headaches (See, Record on Appeal, p. 170); (e) admitted her post-accident headaches were improved through Botox injection (See, Record on Appeal, p. 173); (f) **never attempted to hide her pre-injury depression or use of psychotropic medication from her medical examiners** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 182 - 183); (g) clearly acknowledged the presence of "other stressors involving family members before this accident" (See, Record on Appeal, p. 218); (h) agreed her use of psychotropic medication dated back to at least 2005 (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 194 - 195); and (i) **repeatedly/consistently accepted, as fact, the content of prior medical records if/when she could not remember particular detail of her lengthy pre-injury medical history.** (See, Record on Appeal, pp. 196 - 200, 213, 216 and 221).

In this regard, Respondents also sought to introduce a March 5, 2008 Order issued in connection with a prior workers' compensation claim for the purpose of impeachment. While the undersigned, relying upon the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in Mizell v. Glover,

351 S.C. 392, 370 S.E. 2d 176 (2012), objected to inclusion of this document, the single commissioner overruled the objection, allowing entry of this extrinsic evidence into the hearing record.

## ARGUMENTS

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