**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION
COMMISSION**

Appellate Panel Decision

Appellate Case No. 2018-000359

Vickie Rummage, Employee,Appellant,

v.

BGF Industries, Employer, and Great American Alliance Insurance Co.,
Carrier..... Respondents,

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michael A. Farry
SC Bar No. 1964
Jeremy R. Summerlin
SC Bar No. 101383
Horton Law Firm, P.A.
307 Pettigru St.
Greenville, SC 29601
Tel: 864.233.4351
Attorneys for Respondents

RECEIVED
NOV 26 2018
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

I. Appellant failed to preserve for appeal the issue of whether Dr. Gualtieri’s report constitutes “medical evidence” if it did not include the phrase “to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.”

In her Initial Brief, Appellant argues that Dr. Gualtieri’s report, submitted by Respondents at the Single Commissioner hearing, does not sufficiently controvert Appellant’s own experts because Dr. Gualtieri did not state his opinions to a reasonable degree of medical certainty under S.C. Code § 42-9-35. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 12). Appellant cites *Michau v. Georgetown County ex rel. South Carolina Counties Workers Compensation Trust*, 396 S.C. 589 (2012), in support of her arguments on this point. Appellant contends that she provided “competent evidence” in the form of expert witnesses to support her claim, but that Respondents’ expert report from Dr.

Gualtieri does not constitute competent evidence because it does not include the words, “to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.”

However, while Respondents submitted Dr. Gualtieri’s report at the Single Commissioner hearing in 2016, Appellant did not object to the admissibility of that report at the hearing on the basis that she now raises under the *Michau* case, or on any other basis, in fact. And, after the Single Commissioner issued an order, Appellant failed to raise this issue in any of the fifty-seven grounds for appeal that she provided to the Full Commission. (See R. pp. 11-28; Full Commission Order, February 1, 2018, pp. 11-28). In fact, Appellant mentions Dr. Gualtieri’s report only once in her grounds for appeal, in the thirtieth ground for appeal. (R. p. 19; *Id.* at p. 19). In that section, Appellant attacks Dr. Gualtieri’s report on the following bases: (1) that Dr. Gualtieri allegedly created his report prior to meeting Appellant; (2) that he used his own diagnostic tests when evaluating Appellant; (3) that Dr. Gualtieri’s forty years in his field does not render him qualified to evaluate neuropsychological test data; and (4) that Dr. Gualtieri’s findings do not line with Appellant’s experts. (R. p. 19; *Id.* at p. 19). Nowhere in the grounds for appeal does Appellant argue that Dr. Gualtieri’s findings are not competent medical evidence because the report lacks the phrase “to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.”

Appellant fails to mention that argument and the *Michau* case at any point in this case until the parties’ oral arguments in front of the Full Commission. Appellant even provided a brief prior to oral arguments that failed to mention this argument or the *Michau* case. Respondents’ counsel’s first knowledge of Appellant’s argument on this point came when Appellant’s counsel provided him with a copy of the *Michau* case in the midst of oral argument. (R. pp. 127-128; Full Commission Transcript of Oral Argument, p. 8-9).

Respondents were given no notice of this new ground for appeal prior to oral arguments at

the Full Commission, and therefore Appellant failed to preserve this argument for appeal. This Court has already held that “[a]n issue not raised in the application for review is not preserved for the full commission’s consideration. General exceptions that fail to specifically assign the grounds for error are insufficient to preserve an issue.” *Clark v. Aiken Cty. Gov’t*, 366 S.C. 102, 108, 620 S.E.2d 99, 102 (Ct. App. 2005) (internal citations omitted). “The findings of fact and law by the hearing commissioner become and are the law of the case, unless within the scope of the appellant’s exception to the full commission. . . .” *Green v. City of Columbia*, 311 S.C. 78, 80, 427 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 1993). “Only issues within the application for review under S.C. Code Ann. § 42–17–50 (1976) are preserved for appeal to the commission.” *Brunson v. Am. Koyo Bearings*, 367 S.C. 161, 165–66, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct. App. 2005).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has explained that the policy reasons behind this requirement of specificity ensure that “the opposite party may know what questions are to be raised in the appellate court and **may not be subjected to the danger of having new questions sprung at or just before the hearing.**” *Jones v. Anderson Cotton Mills*, 205 S.C. 247, 31 S.E.2d 447, 450 (1944) (emphasis added). Appellant did, in fact, spring new questions on Respondents’ counsel at the Full Commission hearing, and ultimately failed to raise this issue at the appropriate time, which would have been in the grounds of appeal in Appellant’s Form 30. Therefore, Appellant’s arguments on the competency of Dr. Gualtieri’s report were not preserved for appeal and should not be considered.

Ultimately, however, even if Appellant had preserved this issue for appeal, Dr. Gualtieri’s report still constitutes competent medical evidence. Dr. Gualtieri’s report, which was submitted at the Single Commission hearing, was clear and unequivocal in its findings. Dr. Gualtieri met with Appellant for several hours, reviewed her extensive medical records, and performed multiple tests.

(R. pp. 467-477; Respondent's APA #20, page 265-75; *see also, supra*, at Fact Section B.2.). Dr. Gualtieri determined, without equivocation, that Appellant "demonstrated a non-credible clinical presentation, with dramatic inconsistencies." (R. p. 467; *Id.* at 265). He found "clear evidence of symptom exaggeration." (R. p. 467; *Id.*). He also found that Appellant was at maximum medical improvement, and that despite Appellant's claims, there was "no evidence that [Appellant] had a head injury . . ." (R. p. 467; *Id.*). Given Dr. Gualtieri's nearly fifty years of experience in this field; his status as a board certified member of the American Board of Psychiatry & Neurology; and his extensive review of Appellant's case, it is clear that his report and opinion, in conjunction with Appellant's non-credible testimony at the hearing, provide ample grounds to support the Single Commissioner's decision to deny Appellant's claim.

II. Appellant failed to meet her burden of proof, and therefore, the Full Commission's denial of her claim for aggravation of prior medical condition should be upheld.

A. Appellant's own lack of any credibility undermines any information she provided to her own doctors or to the Single Commissioner at the hearing.

The Full Commission, in adopting and affirming the Single Commissioner's findings, found that that Appellant was "**not remotely credible**," a conclusion that the Single Commissioner based on her observations of the Appellant at the final hearing, "the inconsistencies in her delivery of her testimony, her evasiveness, and on her very 'selective' memory at the hearing and at her deposition" (R. p. 58; Single Commission Order, p. 13) (emphasis added). The Single Commissioner determined that Appellant was "wily and manipulative," a key determination by the factfinder that must guide this entire appeal. (R. p. 59; Single Commission Order, p. 14).

Although the Full Commission is the ultimate factfinder in workers' compensation cases, "[i]t is logical for the [Appellate Panel], which [does] not have the benefit of observing the witnesses, to give weight to the Hearing Commissioner's opinion." *Fishburne v. ATI Sys. Int'l*, 384

S.C. 76, 90, 681 S.E.2d 595, 602 (Ct. App. 2009). It is “within the single commissioner’s discretion, and ultimately that of the Appellate Panel, to assess the witnesses’ credibility and weigh their testimony in reaching a decision.” *Brunson v. Am. Koyo Bearings*, 395 S.C. 450, 459, 718 S.E.2d 755, 760 (Ct. App. 2011). (“Because the single commissioner had the benefit of observing [the Appellant] before reaching her decision, we cannot say the Appellate Panel and the circuit court erred in adopting the single commissioner’s finding on this issue.”). Moreover, unlike the blind adherence to expert witnesses that Appellant demands in her brief, “[t]he Appellate Panel is not bound by the opinion of medical experts” *Sanders v. MeadWestvaco Corp.*, 371 S.C. 284, 292, 638 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2006). Of course, the question remains whether Single Commissioner’s determination was based on “other competent evidence in the record.” *Burnette*, 401 S.C. at 427-28, 737 S.E.2d at 206.

The Single Commissioner did not pull her determination out of the ether. Instead, she based her conclusions on the following evidence, among other things:

- Appellant’s longstanding chronic depression and anxiety disorders, which predated her May 2012 accident (R. p. 59; Single Commission Order, p. 14, ¶ 8);
- Appellant’s selective memory when it came to her pre-accident symptoms and treatment, including medications she had been prescribed just a few days or months prior to the accident (R. pp. 60, 64, 66, 67; *Id.* at pp. 15, 19, 21, 22, ¶¶ 8, 20, 22);
- Appellant’s longstanding chronic migraines and sinus headaches, which predated her May 2012 accident (R. p. 61; *Id.* at p. 16, ¶ 11);
- Appellant’s longstanding sleep difficulties, which predated her May 2012 accident (R. p. 62; *Id.* at p. 16, ¶ 14);
- The expert opinion of Dr. Gualtieri, as detailed *supra* (R. p. 63; *Id.* at p. 18, ¶ 19);

- Appellant's longstanding situation stressors that caused her depression and anxiety for many years prior to the accident (R. pp. 64-65; *Id.* at p. 19-20, ¶ 21);
- Appellant's dishonesty with Dr. Collins in failing to inform him of her extensive pre-existing chronic pain, anxiety, depression, and trouble sleeping (and accompanying medication for treatment) (R. p. 67; *Id.* at p. 22, ¶ 23); and
- Appellant's selective memory and selective disclosure of prior medical history with a series of doctors that she hired to evaluate her (R. pp. 68-69; *Id.* at p. 23-24, ¶¶ 24-27).

Again, as factfinder, the Single Commissioner had access to valuable information that the expert witnesses proffered by Appellant did not. The Single Commissioner was able to directly observe Appellant's demeanor when she testified, especially when Appellant was cross-examined about her pre-existing conditions. The Single Commissioner also had access to a transcript of Appellant's testimony at her deposition and could compare Appellant's responses at her deposition and the hearing to what Appellant told her various doctors in the years leading up to the final hearing. Based on this holistic view, the Single Commissioner weighed all the evidence and made her findings of facts and conclusions.

In *Fishburne v. ATI System International*, the court of appeals noted that "[t]he reliability of the documents and [the Appellant's] statements were matters of credibility for the Appellate Panel, which, in upholding the Single Commissioner's order, discounted [Appellant's] credibility because **she exaggerated her symptoms and made inconsistent statements at the hearing and to her treating physicians.**" 384 S.C. 76, 90, 681 S.E.2d 595, 602 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added). The Appellant's "inconsistent statements[]" caused the Single Commissioner to question [the Appellant's] credibility. Therefore, substantial evidence supports the Appellate Panel's

decision that [the Appellant's] testimony was not credible." *Id.* In this case, the hearing commissioner, in her extensive and detailed findings of fact, described the multitude of inconsistent statements that Appellant made to her various doctors, as well as to the hearing commissioner herself. That, taken in hand with the hearing commissioner's finding that Appellant lacked credibility in her presentation at the hearing, provides ample evidence that Appellant lacks credibility in key matters. And, since the nature of her alleged condition depends solely on self-reporting, Appellant's lack of credibility casts a shadow over her entire case.

- B. The Single Commissioner relied upon ample medical evidence in the record in concluding that Appellant had failed to meet her burden of proof under S.C. Code § 42-9-35 and that Appellant's claims for aggravation of prior medical condition should be denied.

The Single Commissioner found that Appellant's propensity for prevarication tainted any self-reporting of symptoms that she provided to her own doctors. (R. p. 43; Full Commission Order, p. 43, ¶ 36). The Appellant pays lip service to the Single Commissioner's discretion as factfinder to determine the credibility of witnesses, but otherwise is simply incredulous that the Full Commission would fail to find for Appellant. Yet the legal standard is clear that the Single Commissioner does not have to accept the medical opinion of Appellant's expert simply because the Appellant presents such testimony at a hearing. If that were the standard, we would not need factfinders at all. The Court of Appeals firmly states that, "[a]lthough medical evidence 'is entitled to great respect,' the Commission is not bound by the opinions of medical experts and may disregard medical evidence in favor of other competent evidence in the record." *Burnette v. City of Greenville*, 401 S.C. 417, 427–28, 737 S.E.2d 200, 206 (Ct. App. 2012), citing *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7*, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011). "[T]he possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's finding from being supported by substantial evidence." *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C.*

Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 282 S.C. 430, 432, 319 S.E.2d 695, 696 (1984). The ultimate question for this Court is whether Commission's determination that her review of the extensive medical evidence, including Dr. Gualtieri's report, along with the Appellant's overall lack of credibility, provided "competent evidence in the record" to support the Full Commission's decision. We argue that it does.

Appellant's alleged symptoms, because they are neurological in nature, are different from a broken arm or injured spine. The difference is that a broken arm can be objectively determined through an x-ray or visual observation. Appellant's symptoms, such as feeling depressed or suffering from memory loss, are purely subjective and cannot be objectively observed by medical providers. The doctors that Appellant saw had to rely solely on the Appellant's word that she was suffering from depression, or headaches, or memory loss, or sleep issues. Thus, Appellant's case rises and falls on her credibility and honesty. Importantly, the Single Commissioner found that Appellant was "**not remotely credible**," a conclusion that the hearing commissioner based on her observations of the Appellant at the final hearing, "the inconsistencies in her delivery of her testimony, her evasiveness, and on her very 'selective' memory at the hearing and at her deposition" (R. p. 58; Single Commission Order, p. 13) (emphasis added). The Single Commissioner determined that Appellant was "wily and manipulative," a key determination by the factfinder that must guide this entire appeal. (R. p. 59; Single Commission Order, p. 14).

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals "review[s] the Commission's factual findings of whether an Appellant is entitled to compensation for aggravation of a pre-existing condition under the substantial evidence standard of review." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 86, 710 S.E.2d 454, 458 (Ct. App. 2011). In this case, the Single Commissioner's Order is predicated on a plethora of competent and substantial evidence to support the Order's holding. Therefore, the Order should

be affirmed.

III. The prior workers' comp Order was not admitted for that commissioner's opinion of Appellant's credibility, but rather was admitted to establish that Appellant's testimony in the current case—that she had little recollection of her previous worker's comp claim—was further evidence of her selective memory and lack of credibility.

Appellant argues that the Single Commissioner erred in admitting a prior hearing commissioner's order into evidence, because the Commissioner in that prior case had found Appellant to lack all credibility in that hearing as well. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 19). However, as a review of the hearing transcript reveals, Respondents' counsel was not entering the prior order into evidence to show that Appellant had been deemed without credibility in the prior hearing. Rather, Respondents' counsel was illustrating yet another example of Appellant's convenient lapses in memory of events that happen to undermine her case, as well as Appellant's well-established propensity for prevarication.

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